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MANAGEMENT BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Pursuant to the Croatian Accounting Act, the Management Board is responsible for ensuring that
separate financial statements are prepared for each financial year in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted in the European Union (IFRS), in order to give a true and
fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the company Institut IGH, d.d. for that
period.

After making enquiries, the Management Board has a reasonable expectation that the Company has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the
Management Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing separate financial
statements.

In preparing separate financial statements, the responsibilities of the Management Board include
ensuring that:

e suitable accounting policies are selected and then applied consistently;
e judgements and estimates are reasonable and prudent;

o applicable accounting standards are followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the separate financial statements; and

e separate financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Company will continue in business.

The Management Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and must also ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Croatian Accounting Act in force. The Management Board is
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Management Board is responsible for the submission to the Supervisory Board of its annual
report together with separate and consolidated financial statements, following which the Supervisory
Board is required to approve the annual financial statements for submission to the General Assembly
of Shareholders for adoption.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are published separately and issued
simultaneously with these separate financial statements.

The separate financial statements were authorised by the Management Board for issue to the
Supervisory Board and are signed below to signify this:

Ivan Paladina
President of the Management Board

Institut IGH, d.d.

Janka Rakuse 1
10 000 Zagreb
Republic of Croatia

Zagreb, 29 April 2016

Institut IGH, d.d. Zagreb 1
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders and Management of Institut IGH d.d.

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Institut IGH d.d. (the
“Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 and the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these separate financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the separate financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the separate financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In accordance with International Accounting Standard 11 (“IAS 11”) Construction contracts, contract
revenue and costs shall be recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the project at the end
of the reporting period; any expected losses on the construction contract shall be recognised as an
expense immediately, regardless of the stage of completion. However, the Company has accounted for
construction contracts based on invoices issued. Further, the management has not performed an
analysis to identify potential loss-making contracts. We were unable to assess the impact of non-
compliance with the requirements of IAS 11 on the financial statements of the Company as at 31
December 2015 and as at 31 December 2014 and for the years then ended.

i PricewaterhouseCoopers d.o.o., Ulica kneza Ljudevita Posavskog 31, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia
T: +385 (1) 6328 888, F:+385 (1) 6111 556, www.pwc.hr

Commercial Court in Zagreb, Tt-99/7257-2, Reg. No.: 080238978; Company ID No.: 81744835353; Founding capital: HRK 1,810,000.00, paid in full; Management Board:
Hrvoje Zgombi¢, President; J. M. Gasparac, Member; S. Du$i¢, Member; T. Mac¢asovié¢, Member; Giro-Account: Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d., Petrinjska 59, Zagreb, IBAN:
HR8124840081105514875.
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Qualified Opinion

5

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion’
paragraph, the separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2015, its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 2 (v) Going concern to these financial statements and the fact that the
Company entered into a pre-bankruptcy settlement agreement, which became legally valid in late
2013, with the aim of restructuring commitments and being able to continue as a going concern. Note
38 Effects of the pre-bankruptcy settlement agreement to these consolidated financial statements sets
out the Company’s activities for the purpose of realising the pre-bankruptcy settlement plan. The
Company has not fully settled all liabilities as per the pre-bankruptcy settlement for the period from 1
September to 31 December 2015, relating to a part of senior debt and it is currently negotiating
prolongation of the debt with its creditors. This, along with other matters as described in the
aforementioned notes, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty, which may cast significant
doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not qualified in
respect of this matter.

PricewaterhouseCoopers d.o.o.
Zagreb, 29 April 2016

This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Croatian language. All possible care has
been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation
of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.



SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Sales
Other operating income
Total income

Change in value of mventories

Eaw materials, consumables and services used
Staff costs

Amortisation and depreciation

Impairments

Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance mcome
Finance expenses
Net finance (costs)/income

(Loss)/profit before tax

Income tax
Profit/(loss) for the vear

Other comprehensive income

Fevalation of non-current assets, net of tax

Change in valie of financial assets, net of tax

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the vear
Comperehensive income/{loss) for the vear

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (in HEK)

Note

2015 2014

(in thousands of HRE)
7 154532 194540
8 17.448 28.514
171.980  223.054

(60) (482)

9 (53.039) (56.982)
10 (104.383) (105.693)
(6.572) (2397

11 (88.108) (23.975)
12 (14.035 (14.953)
(266.219) (207.482)
(94.239) 15.572

4176 10.690

(17.262) (21.22

13 (13.086) (10.536)
(107.325) 5.036

14 447 1.229
(106.878) 6.265

14.351 (715)

14.351 (715)

(92.527 5.550

40 (175,27) 12,68

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these separate financial

statements.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb



SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

ASSETS

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investment proprety

Investments in related parties and other investments
Loans given

Trade and other receivables

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Loans given

Accrued mncome and prepaid expenses

Cash and cash equivalents
CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets held for sale
TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LTIABILITIES
Share capital

Treasurv shares

Reserves for reasury shares
Revaluation reserves
Accumulated loss

TOTAL EQUITY

Loans and borrowings

Provisions

Deferred tax liahilites

Trade and other pavables
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings

Trade and other pavables

Advances and deposits recerved
Provisions

Accrued expenses and deferred mcome
CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note

1%
16
17
18
21

20

T T N R R
e o= D D

[

[ T T S T A
e I O e R

28
25
14
30

28
30
31
29
32

2015

2014

{in thousands of HRK)

4.013 4.566
177.558 162.832
10.986 10.986
214.066  284.761
35.972 44.024
1.456 1.681
444 051 508.850
816 963
37.8%0 64.135
3.433 6.211
5.993 3.930
431 5.762
48.583 $1.001
108.627 116.616
601.261  706.467
116.605 116.605
(1.446) (1.446)
1.446 1.446
138.369 126.007
(228.728) (123 .638)
26.446 118.974
280.103 300.827
12.166 11.483
34 642 31.502
21.497 29423
348.408 373.235
143.740 139.406
56.628 58439
3.038 2.398
5.345 5.045
17.455 8.970
226407 214238
601.261  706.467

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these separate financial

statements.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb



SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Reserves
for
Registered Capital Statutory Treasury treasury Revaluation  Accumulated
(in thousands of HRK) capital reserves reserves shares shares reserves losses Total
Balance at 31 December 2013 105.668  23.506 - (1.446) 1.446 131.637 (199.647) 61.164
Transactions with owners
Decrease of share capital (64.829) - - - - - 64.829 -
Capital contribution (Note 25) 57.950 - - - - - 57.950
Transformation of liabilities (Note 39) 17.816  (23.506) - - - - - (5.690)
Total transactions with owners 10.937  (23.506) - - - - 64.829 52.260
Comprehensive income
Transfer from revaluation reserves - - - - - (1.812) 1.812 -
Profit for the year - - - - - - 6.265 6.265
Revaluation of non-current assets, net of tax - - - - - (715) - (715)
Sale of revalued assets, net - - - - - (3.103) 3.103 -
Total comprehensive income - - - - - (5.630) 11.180 5.550
Balance at 31 December 2014 116.605 - - (1.446) 1.446 126.007 (123.638) 118.974
Comprehensive income
Transfer from revaluation reserves - - - - - (1.789) 1.789 -
Loss for the year - - - - - - (106.878) (106.878)
Revaluation of non-current assets, net of tax - - - - - 14.351 - 14.351
Total comprehensive income - - - - - 12.562 (105.089) (92.527)
Balance at 31 December 2015 116.605 - - (1.446) 1.446 138.569 (228.728) 26.446

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these separate financial statements.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb



SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit'los=) for the vear
Adjusments:

Income tax

Amaortisation and depreciation

Impairments

Interest icome

Interest expense

Netincrease'(decrease) in providons
Unrealzed foreign exchange differences (net)
TUnrealized loszes from financisl assets

Gain ' (lozg) from ssle of non-current tangible and
mtaneible assets

Income from recovery of receivables previously
written off and write-off of isbilines

Expenszes from discounting nor-current lishilties
Expenses from previous periods

Eesult from operating activities before changes in
working capital

Decrease in inventories

(noreasel'decrease 1 current recerrables
(Decrease)l/mcrease m current habilities

Net cash flow from operating activities before
interests and tax

Income tax paid
Interest paid
Net cash flow from operating activitdes

Cash flow from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of non-current tangible and
wtansible assets

Proceeds from collected interests

Cither cash inflows from mvesting activities

Purchase of non-current tansible and infansible assets
Purchase of equity and debt mstnuments

Cither cash outflows from #rrestineg actvifies

Net cash flow from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of equity and debt financia mstnuments
Proceeds from borrowing principal and other borrowings
Fepayvment of borrowing principal and bonds

Fepayvment of financial leazes

Net cash flow from financing activities

Total increaze i cash flowr

Total decreaze i cash flow

Cash and cash eguivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of vear

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these separate financial

statements.

14
15,16
11
12
12
30
13
13

813
12

22
22

2015

2014

{1 thousands of HRE)

(106.878) 6.265
(447) (1.22%)
5372 5397

BE_108 23873
{1.516) 02.775)
12691 14035
1182 1.440
(4621 Qa6

g 1.379
(1.415) (123
(14.214) (33.37%
2.943 4331
4 400 1377
(8.017) 21.666
147 482
21.475 (2.140)
(8.386) (37.7413
5.219 (17.733
(.377) (15.261)
(2.158) (32.994)
9 364 43873
428 2635

4. 465 4007
(2.329) (670
(173) .
(5.175) (32.617
5.570 14.858
- 37950

7 4322
(8.114) (42 _345)
[(636) (51)
(8.743) 19.876
- 1.740
5.3317 -
5.762 4.022
431 5762

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION

History and incorporation

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb, Janka Rakuse 1, (the Company), Company ID No. (OIB) 79766124714, is
registered in the court register of the Commercial Court in Zagreb under registration number (MBS)

080000959.

The Company shares, ticker IGH-R-A, ISIN: HRIGHORAQ006 are quoted on the Zagreb Stock
Exchange.

The Company is engaged in the professional and scientific research in the field of construction,
which includes: designing, conducting studies, supervision, consulting, investigations, detection,
laboratory testing and calibration. The Company is certified for these activities in accordance with
the standards of sustainable development, namely: EN ISO 9001, EN ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001
certified.

The Company's registered office is in Zagreb, Croatia, Janka Rakuse 1.

Management Board

General Assembly

President Jure Radi¢
Members of the General Assembly are individual Company shareholders or their proxies.

Supervisory Board
Members of the Supervisory Board as at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Jure Radi¢, President from 7 May 2014 until & no later than 7 May 2018

Veniamin Mezhibovskiy, Vice- from 7 May 2014 until & no later than 7 May 2018

president

Dusica Kerha¢, Member from 2 April 2013 until 11 April 2017

Vlado Covié, Member from 20 December 2012 until & no later than 20 December
2016

Sergej Gljadelkin, Member from 7 May 2014 until & no later than 7 May 2018

Sergej Gljadelkin, Member from 28 August 2014 until & no later than 28 August 2018

Igor Tkach, Member from 28 August 2014 until & no later than 28 August 2018

Pursuant to the decision of the Company’s Supervisory Board of 13 February 2015, the Management
Board comprises two members as at 31 December 2015:

President Ivan Paladina, from 1 March 2015
Member Oliver Kumri¢, from 1 March 2015

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb 9



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION
Q) Statement of compliance

The separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS). The consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, which the Company prepares in accordance with
IFRS and Croatian legislation, are published separately and issued simultaneously with the separate
financial statements. Users of these separate financial statements should read them together with the
Group's consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2015 in order to
obtain full information on the financial position, results of operations and changes in the financial
position of the Group as a whole. The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31
December 2015 are available together with these separate financial statements directly at the registered
address of the Company stated above.

The Company maintains its accounting records in the Croatian language, in Croatian kuna and in
accordance with Croatian law and the accounting principles and practices observed by enterprises in
Croatia.

These separate financial statements were authorised for issue by the Management Board on 29 April
2016.

Balance sheet items were recorded as at 31 December 2015 unless otherwise stated.
(i) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following:
¢ Revaluation of land and buildings as stated in Note 3.9 (i)

¢ Investment property as stated in Note 3.11.

e Assets available for sale as stated in Note 3.19

The methods used for fair value measurement are set out in Note 6.

(iii)  Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Croatian kuna (HRK), which is the Company’s
functional currency, rounded to the nearest thousand.

(iv) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Management Board to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about the values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

The impact of the correction is recognised for the period in which the estimate has been corrected, if
the correction impacts the current period, or for the current and future periods, if the correction
impacts both current and future accounting periods.

Judgements made by the Management Board in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next
year are discussed in Note 5.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb 10



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 2 — BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(V) Going concern

In the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company incurred a net loss of HRK 106,878 thousand
(2014: profit of HRK 6,265 thousand) and at year-end, the Company's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HRK 69,197 thousand (2014: HRK 16,641 thousand).

The Company’s Management Board considers that the Company has met the requirements to
continue as a going concern. In previous periods, the Company has operated in difficult liquidity
conditions and at risk of a permanent inability to refinance short-term financial liabilities towards
banks. Precisely for this reason, the Company, by means of a pre-bankruptcy settlement, reached an
agreement with its creditors and restructured its debt. The going concern basis is certainly affected
by the fact that, as part of the pre-bankruptcy settlement, the Company limited its exposure arising
from co-debtorship towards certain related companies which, if activated, would prevent the
Company's operational business activities. Regardless of the financial restructuring, the Company
performed a capital increase by issuing new shares and is in the process of selling certain assets in
order to ensure the necessary liquidity.

During 2013, the Company initiated pre-bankruptcy settlement proceedings which were successfully
completed by the Decision of the Commercial Court in Zagreb no. 72. Stpn-305/13 of 5 December
2013 approving the pre-bankruptcy agreement between the debtor Institut IGH, d.d. and creditors of
the pre-bankruptcy settlement. The pre-bankruptcy settlement became legally valid as of 28
December 2013. A summary of the effects of the pre-bankruptcy settlement plan is set out in Note
39.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb 11



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 3-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

3.1 Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities in which the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to exercise
control over the operations. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Investments in activities are accounted for initially at cost and subsequently at cost less impairment.
Impairment testing for investments in subsidiaries is conducted on an annual basis.

3.2 Investments in associates

Associates are companies in which the Company has a significant influence, but not the control.
Significant influence comprises the power of participating in making decisions on financial and
operating policies of an associate, but does not represent control or joint control. Investments in
associates are accounted for initially at cost and subsequently at cost less impairment. Impairment
testing for investments in associates is conducted on an annual basis.

3.3 Revenue

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods
and services in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of value-
added tax, volume rebates and sales discounts.

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for
each of the Company’s activities as described below.

(i)  Service revenues

Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which services are rendered, by
reference to the completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service
provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

(i)  Finance income and costs

Finance income and costs comprise interest payable on loans and borrowings using the effective
interest method, interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income and foreign exchange gains
and losses.

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on an accrual basis using the effective interest
rate. Dividend income is recognised in the income statement at the date when the Company’s right to
receive payment is established.

Finance costs comprise interest on loans, changes of fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss, impairment losses of financial assets and foreign exchange losses.
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb 12



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.3 Revenue (continued)

(iii)  Rental income

Revenues from rental services are recognised when rental services are provided.
3.4 Leases

The Company leases certain plant and equipment. Leases where the Company has substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the inception of the lease at the lower of fair value of the leased property or the present value of
minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance costs so as
to achieve a constant rate on the balance outstanding. The interest element of finance costs is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Leases where the significant portion of risks and rewards of ownership are not retained by the
Company are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

35 Foreign currencies

Transactions and balances in foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency at the foreign exchange
rate prevailing at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and items that are measured in terms of historical cost of a foreign currency are
not re-translated.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at historical
cost are translated into the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of
the transaction.

As at 31 December 2015, the official exchange rate was HRK 7.635047 for EUR 1 (31 December
2014: HRK 7.661471 for EUR 1).

3.6 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities, unless the Company has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

3.7 Dividend

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s General Assembly
of Shareholders.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb 13



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.8 Taxation
Income tax

The income tax charge comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case it is
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rates
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.

(1 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary
differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit as well as differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled companies when it is likely that the situation will
not change in the near future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied
to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted by the
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

(i) Tax exposures

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Company takes into account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New
information may become available that causes the Company to change its judgement regarding the
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the
period in which such a determination is made.

Value added tax (VAT)

The Tax Administration requires the settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and
purchases is recognised and disclosed in the statement of financial position on a net basis. Where a
provision has been made for impairment of receivables, impairment loss is recorded for the gross
amount of the debtor, including VAT.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb 14



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.9 Property, plant and equipment
0) Land and buildings

Following initial recognition at cost, land and buildings are carried at revalued amount, which is the
fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation on buildings
and any impairment.

Fair value is based on the market value, being the estimated amount for which an asset could be
exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length
transaction.

When the carrying amount is increased as a result of revaluation, this increase should be recognised
directly in other comprehensive income under revaluation reserves. The revaluation increase is
recognised as income to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised as an expense.

When the carrying amount is decreased as a result of revaluation, this revaluation decrease should be
recognised directly in revaluation reserves to the extent that the decrease does not exceed the amount
held in the revaluation reserve for the same asset, while the remaining amount is charged to expenses
for the period.

A valuation is performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the reporting date. Certain land
and buildings are derecognised upon disposal or when no future benefits are expected from their use
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of lands and buildings (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) are included in
profit or loss when they are derecognised.

The relevant portion of the revaluation surplus, realised in the previous valuation, is released to
profit or loss from the surplus of the valued assets upon the disposal of the revalued asset.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Based on the revaluation performed by independent valuers, the Company has revalued its properties
and created revaluation reserves that are transferred to retained earnings/accumulated losses in
accordance with the adopted depreciation policy.

Gains and losses on the disposal of land and buildings are recognised within other income or
expenses in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in
revaluation reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

(i) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are initially included in the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment, if any. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Following initial recognition at cost, plant and
equipment are carried at revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date of revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any impairment.

Fair value is based on the market value, being the estimated amount for which an asset could be
exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length
transaction.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.9  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the carrying amount is increased as a result of revaluation, this increase should be recognised
in equity under revaluation reserves. The revaluation increase is recognised as income to the extent
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised as an expense.

When the carrying amount is decreased as a result of revaluation, this decrease is recognised as an
expense. The revaluation decrease is recognised directly in the revaluation reserves to the extent that
the decrease does not exceed the amount held in the revaluation reserve for the same asset.

A valuation is performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the reporting date. Certain land
and buildings are derecognised upon disposal or when no future benefits are expected from their use
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of lands and buildings (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) are included in
profit or loss when they are derecognised.

The relevant portion of the revaluation surplus, realised in the previous valuation, is released to
profit or loss from the surplus of the valued assets upon the disposal of the revalued asset and during
its use.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Based on the revaluation performed by an independent valuer, the Company has revalued its
equipment in depreciation categories ‘Laboratory equipment’ and ‘Measuring and controlling
instruments’, and created revaluation reserves that are transferred to retained earnings/accumulated
losses in accordance with the adopted depreciation policy.

Gains and losses on the disposal of equipment are recognised within other income or expenses in the
income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation reserves are
transferred to retained earnings.

(iii)  Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

(iv) Depreciation

Land and assets under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation of other items of property,
plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their
estimated useful lives or to their residual values as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and equipment 1to 5 years
Other 10 years
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.9  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Company would currently obtain from
the disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and
in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 3.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined as the difference between the income from the disposal
and the carrying amount of the asset disposed, and are recognised in profit or loss within other
income/expenses.

3.10 Intangible assets
Patents, licenses and software
0) Ownership of intangible assets

Patents, licenses and software are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use
the specific asset.

(i) Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are capitalised only if they increase future economic benefits arising from the asset. All
other costs are treated as costs in the income statement as incurred.

(iii)  Amortisation

Intangible assets under construction are not amortised. Amortisation of other intangible assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives or to
their residual values as follows:

Right to use property of third parties 1to 2 years

3.11  Investment property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when it is likely that future economic benefits will arise
from the investment and when the cost of investment can be reliably measured. Investment property
includes property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost including transaction costs incurred. Subsequently,
investment property is measured at fair value reflecting market conditions at the balance sheet date. Profit
or loss from changes in fair value of investment property is recognised in the income statement of the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.12  Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant,
equipment and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, Company assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest company of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately as an expense, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease in accordance with the relevant Standard containing requirements for
revaluation of the underlying asset(s).

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.

3.13 Inventories

The cost of work in progress and finished goods comprise raw materials, direct labour, other direct
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity).

Trade goods are carried at the lower of purchase cost and sales price (less applicable taxes and
margins).

Small inventory and tools are expensed when put into use.
3.14  Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at cost which is equal to fair value at the moment of
recognition and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, if material,
and if not at par value less an allowance for impairment. A provision for impairment of receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or delinquency in payments are considered
indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.14  Trade receivables (continued)

between the receivable’s carrying amount and recoverable amount, being the present value of estimated
future cash inflows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at the date of initial recognition.
The collection of previously written off receivables is recognised in other operating income.

3.15  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less. In the consolidated
statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current liabilities.

3.16  Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the
fair value of the consideration received over the par value of the shares issued is presented in the
notes as a share premium. Where the Company purchases its equity share capital (treasury shares),
the consideration paid, including any directly attributable transaction costs (net of income taxes), is
deducted from equity attributable to the Company's shareholders until the shares are cancelled or
reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is
included in equity.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.17  Employee benefits
0) Pension obligations and post-employment benefits

In the normal course of business through salary deductions, the Company makes payments to
mandatory pension funds on behalf of its employees as required by law. All contributions made to the
mandatory pension funds are recorded as salary expense when incurred. The Company is not obliged to
provide any other post-employment benefits.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Company recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to
either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without
possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy.

(iii)  Regular retirement benefits

Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the reporting date are discounted to their present
value based on the calculation performed at each reporting date by an independent actuary, using
assumptions regarding the number of staff likely to earn regular retirement benefits, estimated
benefit cost and the discount rate of the Croatian National Bank. Actuarial gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

(iv)  Long-term employee benefits

Up to October 2012, the Company recognised a liability for long-term employee benefits (jubilee
awards) evenly over the period in which the benefit is earned based on actual years of service. The
long-term employee benefit liability is determined annually by an independent actuary, using
assumptions regarding the likely number of staff to whom the benefits will be payable, estimated
benefit cost and the discount rate which is determined as the weighted average interest rate on the
Company’s debt. Upon the expiry of the collective agreement in October 2012, the Company is no
longer obliged to pay jubilee awards to employees and ceased to recognise a liability for long-term
employee benefits.

3.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event and it is probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of
discounting is material, the amount of the provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation, determined using the estimated risk free interest rate as the discount
rate. Where discounting is used, the reversal of such discounting in each year is recognised as a
financial expense and the carrying amount of the provision increases in each year to reflect the passage
of time.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.19 Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in shares and bonds, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, commercial papers and trade and other
payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, increased by transaction costs,
in the case of financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Non-derivative
financial instruments are subsequently measured in the way described below.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of an
instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if the Company’s contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial assets expire or if the Company transfers the financial asset to another party without
retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Regular purchases and sales of
investments are recognised on trade date, i.e. the date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Company’s obligations specified in the contract
expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

Unlisted shares and listed redeemable notes held by the Company that are traded in an active market are
classified as being AFS and are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined in the manner described
in Note 6. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity in the
investments revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment loss, interest calculated using the
effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, which are
recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in the investments revaluation reserve
are included in the statement of comprehensive income for the period.

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive dividends
is established.

The fair value of AFS financial assets denominated in foreign currencies is determined in the relevant
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the reporting date. Changes in fair value
related to foreign exchange differences arising from the change in amortised cost of the asset are
recognised in profit or loss, while other changes are recognised in equity.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3.19  Financial instruments (continued)
Loans given and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans, trade receivables and other receivables with fixed or
determinable payments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for current receivables when
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.

For securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial restructuring; or
the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset due to financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, i.e. assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Company's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period
of 360 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
the default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of
an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, accumulated gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss for the period.
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3.19  Financial instruments (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the
extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date on which the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is
recognised under the investments revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment
losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

3.20 Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction
COsts.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.
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3.20 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract under which the issuer is obliged to pay the holder a certain
sum as compensation for losses suffered by the owner because the borrower has not fulfilled its
obligation to pay under the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently, if they are not designated to be measured at fair value through profit or loss, by the higher
of:

¢ the amount of the obligation under the contract, which is determined in accordance with IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,

¢ the original amount less the accumulated amortisation, if any, are recognised in accordance with
revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

3.21  Segment reporting

The Company identifies operating segments on the basis of internal reports about components of the
Company that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (which was identified as
being the Company's Management Board) in order to allocate resources to the segments and to
assess their performance. Details on the operating segments are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial
statements.

3.22  Earnings per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic and

diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
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NOTE 4 - NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED

This note includes details on (a) new and amended standards, which are effective for the first time
for periods beginning on 1 January 2015 and (b) forthcoming requirements - that is, new and
amended standards that have been issued and are not effective for periods beginning on 1 January
2015, but will be in effect in subsequent periods.

a) New and amended standards
Below is a list of standards/interpretations that have been issued and are effective for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2015.

e Annual Improvements to IFRSs — 2010 — 2012 Cycle comprising changes to seven standards
(IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, IAS 28 and 1AS 24).

e Annual Improvements to IFRSs — 2011 — 2013 Cycle comprising changes to four standards
(IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 13 and IAS 40).

o Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions - Amendments to IAS 19.

The adoption of these improvements did not have any impact on the current period or any prior
period and is not likely to affect future periods.

b) Forthcoming requirements

Below is a list of standards/interpretations that have been issued and are not effective for periods
starting on 1 January 2015, but will be effective for later periods.

e |FRS 9 Financial instruments and associated amendments to various other standards
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

The complete version of IFRS 9 replaces most of the guidance in IAS 39. IFRS 9 retains but
simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement
categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through OCI and fair value through
P&L. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are
required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at
inception to present changes in fair value in OCI. There is now a new expected credit losses
model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. For financial
liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition
of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair
value, through profit or loss. IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by
replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship
between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as
the one the Management Board actually uses for risk management purposes. Adequate
documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared under IAS 39. The
Company plans to adopt this new standard on the effective date as of and when adopted by
the EU. The Company is still assessing the impact of this standard.

e |FRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers and associated amendments to various
other standards (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

IASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace IAS 18
which covers contracts for goods and services and IAS 11 which covers construction
contracts.
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The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a
good or service transfers to a customer — so the notion of control replaces the existing notion
of risks and rewards.

Key changes to current practice are:

» Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must be separately recognised, and
any discounts or rebates on the contract price must generally be allocated to the
separate elements.

» Revenue may be recognised earlier than under current standards if the consideration
varies for any reasons (such as for incentives, rebates, performance fees, royalties,
success of an outcome, etc.).

» The point at which revenue is able to be recognised may shift: some revenue which
is currently recognised at a point in time at the end of a contract may have to be
recognised over the contract term and vice versa.

» There are new specific rules on licenses, warranties, non- refundable upfront fees
and, consignment arrangements, to name a few; and

» Aswith any new standard, there are also increased disclosures.

Entities will have a choice of full retrospective application, or prospective application with
additional disclosures. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on
their financial statements, but does not expect any impacts. The Company plans to adopt this
amendment on its effective date.

o IFRS 16 Leases (issued in January 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019)

The new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases. All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an asset at the
start of the lease and, if lease payments are made over time, also obtaining financing.
Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases of
finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, instead, introduces a single lessee accounting
model. Lessees will be required to recognize: a) assets and liabilities for all leases with a
term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value, and b)
depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income
statement. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 1AS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases,
and to account for those two types of leases differently. The Company is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments on the financial statements.
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NOTE 5 - KEY ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Management Board to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future
periods affected.

(1 Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets represent income taxes recoverable through future deductions from taxable
profits and are recorded in the statement of financial position. Deferred income tax assets are
recorded to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. In determining future
taxable profits and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future, the Management Board
makes judgements and applies estimates based on previous years’ taxable profits and expectations of
future income that are believed to be reasonable under the existing circumstances.

(i) Consequences of certain legal disputes

There are a number of legal disputes which have arisen from the regular course of operations. The
Management Board makes estimates of probable outcomes of these legal disputes, and the
provisions for the Company’s obligations arising from these legal actions are recognised on a
consistent basis.

(iii) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each
annual reporting period. During the year, there were no changes in estimated useful lives of non-
current assets.

(iv) Impairment of assets

The Company regularly reviews the recoverability of each asset individually and if there is any
indication of impairment, it shall be impaired to the estimated recoverable amount.

(V) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

(vi) Investment property

Investment property is initially carried at cost. After initial recognition, investment property is
carried at fair value. Profit or loss from changes in fair value of investment property is recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(vii)  Going concern

The Company considers all relevant information on all the key risk factors, assumptions and
uncertainties that it is aware of and that are essential to the ability of the Company to continue as a
going concern.
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NOTE 6 - DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

The Company has an established control framework with respect to fair value measurement which
assumes the overall responsibility of the Management Board and the Finance Department in relation
to monitoring all significant fair value measurements, consultation with external experts and the
responsibility to report, with respect to the above, to those charged with corporate governance.

Fair values are measured using information collected from third parties in which case the
Management Board and the Finance Department assess whether the evidence collected from third
parties support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of IFRSs, including the
level in the fair value hierarchy where such valuations should be classified.

All significant issues related to fair values estimates are reported to the Supervisory Board.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in
valuation techniques as follows:

o Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.
o Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly
(that is, derived from prices).

o Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the fair value
estimate is included in level 3.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company has made the following significant fair value
estimates while preparing the financial statements as further explained in detail in the following
notes:

¢ Note 16: Property, plant and equipment

e Note 17: Investment property

o Note 18: Investments in related parties and other investments
e Note 23: Non-current assets held for sale
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 7-SEGMENT INFORMATION

Sales revenue

2015 2014

{tn thousands af HRK)
Fevenue from services 134 488 194,147
Eeavemue from sale of apartments 44 393
154.532 194.540

The Company is organised into business units according to sectors of construction industry based on
the principles of team (project) organisation in which individuals from different business units form
the project team in order to realise a particular project. Business units are engaged in designing,
performing studies, supervising, advisory services, laboratory testing, research work and scientific
research. These operations represents the Company's reportable segments.

Reportable segments are an integral part of the internal financial statements. The internal reports are
regularly reviewed by the Company's Management Board that is also the chief operating decision
maker, and that assesses the effectiveness of operations and makes business decisions.

During 2015, the Company recorded revenue in the amount of HRK 28,012 thousand by rendering
services to its most significant customer.

Segment revenues and results

Set out below is an analysis of the Company's revenue and results by its reporting segments,
presented in accordance with IFRS 8, and also a reconciliation of segment financial performance
with the profit or loss before tax. The revenue presented below relates to third-party sales. Inter-
segment revenues are eliminated when reporting.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 7 - SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue Segment profit
SEGMENTS 2015 2014 2015 2014
Designing 46.045 66.496 1.630 22672
Smdies 6.234 7.847 1.026 2199
Supervision 57424 67.937 20.200 25631
Advisory services 5.069 7.126 2.138 2337
Laboratory testing 26.513 27.490 6.840 9 461
Investigations 12.650 16.664  (2.621) 31.005
Geotechnical research 317 380 (444) (614)
Total revenue by segments 154252 194,540 28.780 04.001
Fevenue from sale of apartments 44 393
Income from write-off of Hahilities 8551 13.196
Other operating income 9.133 14925
Total revenue 17.728 28.514
Central administrative expenses (39.687) (32.240)
Amortisation and depreciation (6.572) (5.397)
Impairments (88.108) (20.948)
Provision for expenses and risks (1.920) {2.296)
Change i value of nventories (60) (482)
Other operating expenses (4.409) {16.271)
Finance income 4.176 10.691
Finance costs (17.262) (21.226)
(Loss)/profit before tax (107.325) 5.036
Income tax 447 1.229
(Loss)/profit for the yvear (106.578) 06.205

The Designing segment includes the creation of projects, project validation and control
(revision) of projects in the areas of roads, geotechnical and hydraulic engineering and
construction building.

The Studies segment includes the development of study and planning documents relating to
spatial planning, sustainable development and environmental protection, waste management
and transport.

The Supervision segment includes monitoring the implementation during the construction of
roads, engineering, geotechnical and hydraulic structures and building construction.

The Advisory services segment covers specific services for participants in the process of
realisation of a particular construction project, in the field of construction project
management, consultancy and other services to the Croatian Chamber of Civil Engineering,
and technical consulting.

The Laboratory testing segment includes laboratory and field testing in the area of hydraulic
engineering, geotechnics, construction, road building, materials and building physics.

The Investigations segment includes performing investigations and preparing diagnostic
reports.

The Geotechnical research segment includes work on international research projects and
work on research projects funded by the Ministry of Science, Education and Sports of the
Republic of Croatia.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 7 - SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same accounting policies as described in
Note 3.21. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocating central
administration costs, depreciation, provisions, impairment, other income and other finance income

and costs.
The Company does not allocate assets and liabilities by segments.

NOTE 8 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME

g 2015 2014
{in thousands of HREK)
Income from reversal of provisions 736 857
Gain on sale of assets 1.415 22
Eental income 206 242
Income from recovery of receivablas praviously written off 4.163 0419
Insurance reimbursements 732 402
Compensation and grant income 402 RS
Income from liabilites written off 8.551 13164
(Other income 1.241 3.24
17.448 28.514
NOTE 9 - RAW MATERIALS, CONSUMABLES AND SERVICES USED
" 2015 2014
(in thowusands of HRE)
E aw materials and consumable s used 1.50 2281
Energy costs 3.436 6.218
Small itventory and spare parts used 1.013 500
Transportation, talephone . postal services 2.099 3.035
Subcontractors 27.345 25489
Manufacturine services 1.367 6041
U tilitie s 1.395 1.815
Maintenance costs 2484 3.524
F.ental expense 7.830 5.658
A dwvartising and promofion costs 186 -
Other external expenses 237 2311
53.039 56.982
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 10 - STAFF COSTS

" 2015 2014
i thousands of HRE)

Netsalaries 33564 33768

Tax, contibutions and other charges 18257 40123

Feaimimwrsament of expensas (travel expenses wages, transportation) 10.491 10485

Termination, support and other benefits 2.073 12749
Compensations, termmination and support bene fits in the excess of tax

allowwable amount - 28

104.385 105.693

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had 561 employee (2014: 599 employees). In 2015, non-
taxable termination benefits were paid in the amount of HRK 1,046 thousand for 29 employees
(2014: for 40 employees in the amount of HRK 1,884 thousand). As at 31 December 2015, the
Company established provisions for termination benefits for 7 employees that will be paid in 2016 in
the total amount of HRK 1,200 thousand.

During 2015, the Company accounted for contributions for the compulsory pension fund for 614
employees amounting to HRK 15,443 thousand (2014: for 644 employees amounting to HRK 15,881
thousand).

NOTE 11 — IMPAIRMENT

2015 2014
fin thousands of HRK)

Impairment of rade receivables 3.166 20261
Inpairement of other recetvables 1.437 687
Impairment of shares in subsidianes 34.079 341
Itmpairment of shares in assodates 36.451 -
Impairment of loans gven and other financial assets 10,739 2686
Irmpairment of non-cirrent tangible assets 236 -
88.108 23.975
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 12 - OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

r

20157 2014
fin thousands of HRE)
Expenses from previous periods 31327 563
Legal consultancy and audit services 1.772 4884
Bank fees and charges 1 448 1.801
Other expenses 1.440 1.717
Penalties and similar expenses 1.077 101
Insurance premiums 1.034 769
Confributions to public bodies 874 811
Entertainment 517 623
Education and traimng expenses 450 340
Tax not dependent on operating result 191 335
Provisions for unused vacation days - 690
Provisions for termination benefits and jubilee awards 1.209 632
Provisions for legal disputes 711 974
Not written-off value of disposed and retired fixed assets 5 713
14.055 14.953
NOTE 13 - FINANCE INCOME/(COSTYS)
Finance income 2015 2014
(in thousands of HRK)
Foreign exchange gains 1.081 515
Interest income 1.516 2775
Income from reversal of interest pavable 1.493 7.396
Other finance income 81 4
4.176 10.690
Finance costs
Foreign exchange losses 619 1.481
Interest expense 13.691 14.035
Unrealised losses from financial assets 9 1.379
Other finance costs 2.943 41331
17.262 21.226
Net finance (costs)/income (13.084) (10.5348)
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 14 - INCOME TAX

Tax income consists of:

2015 2014
(in thousands of HRE)

Deferred tax 447 1.229
447 1.220

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate

A reconciliation of tax expense per the statement of comprehensive income and taxation at the
statutory rate is detailed in the table below:

2015 2014
fin thousands of HRK)

Profit/(loss) befbre tax (107.325) 5.03¢6
Income tax at 20% (2014: 20%;) 21463 1.007
Non-deductible expanses and non-taxable income 17.752 6
Tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 3713 -
Tax on realised profit - (1.013)
Previously recognised deferred tax labilities 447 1.228
Income tax 447 1.229
Effactive tax rats 0% 24%

Unused gross tax losses amounting to HRK 81,332 thousand relate to the tax loss incurred in 2012
(31 December 2014: HRK 62,767 thousand) that can be used up to 2017, and to the tax loss
incurred in 2015 that can be used up to 2020.

Unused tax losses are not recognised as deferred tax assets in the statement of financial position, as
it is unlikely that there will be sufficient taxable profits realised for the utilisation of these deferred
tax assets.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 14 — INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The Company did not recognise deferred tax assets in the total amount of HRK 93,846 thousand

which is based on:

e unused tax losses generated up to 2015 in the amount of HRK 16,267 thousand,

e impairment of non-current and current financial assets and receivables in the total amount of

HRK 77,579 thousand.

The deferred tax liability arises from the following:

2015
Temporary differences:

Revaluaton of non-curett assets

2014
Temporary differences:
Fevauation of notrcurent assets

Recognis Recognise

Opening edin d in profit Closing
balance equity orloss balance
31.502 3.587 (447) 346412
31.502 3.587 (447) 34.642
Recognis Recognise

Opening edin din profit Closing
balance  equity or loss balance
32909 (178) (1.229) 31.502
32.909 (178) (1.229) 31502
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 15 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

{tn thousands of HRK)
Cost

At 1l January 2014

New purchases

Disposals

Transfer into use

At3l December2014
Accumulated amortisation
At January 2014

A mortisation charge for the vear
Disposals or retirement
At3]l December2014
Cost

At January 2015

New purchases

A dditions

Disposals

T ransfer into use

At3]1 December 2015
Accumulated amortisation
At 1l January 2015

A mortisation charge for the vear
At3]l December 2015

Net book amount
At 3] December2014
At 3] December 2015

FRight to use

Assets under

property construction T otal
32253 3862 36,115

- 1.217 1.217

(717) ; (717)
1.214 (1.214) ;
32.750 3.865 36.015
(29.892) (1.268) (31.160)
(889) - (889)
(30.781) (1.268) (32.049)
32.750 3 865 36.6015

- 1.039 1.039

282 - 282
(330) - (530)
1.005 (1.005) ;
33.507 3.500 37.400
(30.781) (1.268) (32.049)
(1.344) - (1.344)
(32.125) (1.268) (33.393)
1.969 2.597 4 566
1.382 2.631 4.013

Assets under construction relate to investments in an access road as a leasehold improvement.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 16 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

firn thousards gf HRE)
Costor es imated value
At ] Jamans 2004
Increasz= due o mvalation
Dhirzct purchasss

Tramsfer into ve=
Dzcrzazs

Dizposak or eiement

Tramefzr to non-curent ass=ts held forsale

At 31 December 2014

Accumubted depreciation

At 1 Jamary 2004

Depreciaton charze for the vear
Disposals or mtimment

At 3]l December 2014

Costor es amated value
At ]l Jamary 2015

Increasze due b evababon
Watz-off

Direct purchases

Transfer mio vse

Decrmazs

Dizposak or mtiement

At 31 Decambar 2015
Aceumubited depreciation
At 1 Tamaey 2015
Depreciztion chargs for the vear
Impairment

Watz-off

DHzposak or mhmment

At 3] December 2015

Net book anount

At 3] December 2014
At 3] December 2015

Assets
undar Advances
Plant and cons tructio for tangible
Land EBuildines _egquipment n Other Assets Total
63.730 T6.140 130612 20 457 439 &7 3100004
- 063 330 1.793
063 (963) .
(178} (720 (903)
(2.224) 2.24)
63,7589 76,140 138,173 29,467 959 170 30B.668
(2.36T) (137.612) (2.018 (633 (143.552)
(3.967) (539 4. 508)
- (6.334) (135010 (2.91B) (655) - (145.836)
£3.750 76.140 138.173 20 457 050 170 303.668
18.420 18.420
(92.208) - - (2. 208)
- 2061 1784 I35
138 1.935 (2.073

(241} (1814 (2.033)
- (102) (2.247) - - - (2.344)
63,750 T6.176 63,846 20,488 050 140 234,338
(6.334) (135.920) (2.918) (635 (145, 836)
(3.971) (1.257y (3. 228)
(236 (236)
102 221 - - 2315

- (10.203) 43.001) (2.91B) (655) - (86,777
£3.750 559806 2244 26.540 304 170 162.832
63,750 65073 20,845 26.537 A4 140 177.55B

Land and buildings of the Company with a net carrying amount of HRK 155,950 thousand (2014:
HRK 159,831 thousand) have been pledged as security for repayment of borrowings from

commercial banks (Note 29).
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 16 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Assets under construction relate to the investment in the construction of commercial buildings at
Janka Rakuse 1 in Zagreb.

The estimated market value for revaluation purposes was determined based on the independent
valuer's report that was based on the cost method, the comparative method and/or the income
method depending on the type of property.

The estimated market value of laboratory equipment and measuring instruments for revaluation
purposes was determined based on the independent valuers' calculations who applied the cost
method as the most appropriate method because it is based on the economic principle that the buyer
of the property will not pay more than the price that the buyer would have paid for an asset of equal
utility in case of a new purchase or construction. As at 31 December 2015, the net carrying amount
of revalued assets before revaluation would have amounted to HRK 1,709 thousand (31 December
2014: HRK 489 thousand).

In the current year, the Company concluded a finance lease agreement used to purchase equipment —
pavement monitoring system. The lease will be repaid in 60 instalments at an interest determined
using variable interest rates. At the day of the conclusion of the agreement, the effective interest rate
was 6.01%.

2015 2014

(i1 thowsands of HRE)
Cost of purchasze of capialised fmance leases 1498 o41
A courmulated depreciation (3007 (G36)
Net book value 1.099 305

Q) Valuation techniques and significant inputs

The following table summarizes the valuation methods and techniques used in measuring the fair

value and significant inputs used in the valuation:

Valuation methods and techniques

Significant unobservable inputs

Land and buildings

Fair value measurement of land and buildings was performed by certified
valuers. Depending on the intended use of the assets the methods used were
the market value method (by further developing the cost method), the income
method and the residual method.

The calculation of the market value by further developing the cost method is
performed by calculating the value of a newly built property and its
impairment due to the passage of time, construction, furnishing, etc. The
resulting price is adjusted to the market price through a number of factors
specific to the observed building or land.

The income method considers the present value of net cash flows that the
assets could generate from rent taking into account the expected net rent
based on comparable transactions.

The residual method is based on an analysis of a specific investment and is
focused on determining the value of land planned for development. The
method is applied in the context of developing a project, if the investor wishes
to determine the maximum price to pay for land in order to profitably realise a
project.

Correction  factors used in
calculating the market price.

Average yield: 7-9%

Among other  factors, the
estimated discount rate considers
the underlying quality of the
property, its location and the
currently realisable rent
conditions for similar locations
and the comparative type of

property.

Specific  expenses used in
determining the net cash flow in
the income method.

Specific costs of construction,
periods of financing, interest
rates, required profit margins and
other expenses in calculating the
residual method.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Valuation methods and techniques

Significant unobservable inputs

Equipment

Fair value measurement of equipment was performed by certified valuers.
They used the cost method and the DCF method (capital contribution method)
to measure fair value.

The cost method for measuring equipment value involves determining the
value of the physical, functional and economic obsolescence of the
equipment. Cost value is determined on the basis of the carrying value of the
fixed assets register. In the process of evaluating physical obsolescence, the
current useful life of assets, their total useful life and remaining useful life is
analysed for each assessed asset separately. Functional obsolescence takes
into account the ability to function over the remaining useful life.

When assessing economic obsolescence, the economic obsolescence model
and the economic indicators model are used.

The DCF method is a variation of the income method according to which the
market value of the asset is based on estimated future cash flows that are
expected to be generated by functioning machinery and equipment.

NOTE 17 — INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Cost

At 1 January
Impairment

At 31 December

Correction  factors used in
calculating the market price.

Among other factors, the
estimated discount rate is the
expected rate of return that the
market requires in order to attract
funds for a particular investment.

Specific  expenses used in
determining the net cash flow in
the DCF method.

2015 2014

fin thousands of HREK)
21 880 21.880
(10.804) (10 894
10.986 10986

Investment property with a net carrying amount of HRK 7,369 thousand (2014: HRK 7,369
thousand) has been pledged as security for borrowings from a commercial bank. The cost of
investment property amounts to HRK 18,263 thousand. Since the property is encumbered by a lien
on third-party borrowing liabilities, the fair value of the property was reduced by the amount of the
subscribed lien to the net carrying amount of HRK 7,369 thousand.

Q) Valuation techniques and significant inputs

The following table summarizes the valuation methods and techniques used in measuring the fair
value and significant inputs used in the valuation:
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 17 - INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Valuation methods and techniques

Significant unobservable inputs

Land and buildings

Valuation methods and techniques used are identical to those used in

determining the fair value of land and buildings in Note 16 (i).

Significant unobservable inputs
are described in Note 16 (i).

NOTE 18 — INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

g 201s8" 2014
{in thousands of HRK)

Investment in subsidiaries 193.077 226983
Investment in associates 15.000 31.451
Shares in investment funds 3.091 3.009
P articipating interests 744 1.062
E onds 753 628
Deposits and guarantees given 1.401 1.477
214.066 284.761

Investments in subsidiaries

2015 1014
Share of Share of
ownership ownership

and voting Carrving and voting Carrving
(in thousands of HRE) rights amount rights amount
Geotzhnila-inF=njering d.o.0., Zagrab 100 62.70) 100 62.7%)
IGH Mipstar d.o.o., Mpstar 100 G.004 100 4.0
IGH Energia d.o.o. (ex IGH Razum d.0.0.), Zagreb 100 o 100 o
Incro d.o.0. (ex Adeplo d.o.0.), Zagreb 100 20 0 X
Projekt $olta d.o.0., Zagreb 100 38.544 00 38.344
IGH Projeltrang de.o., Zagreb 104 6.103 00 6.103
Radelievic do.o., Zagreb 100 116.828 00 116.323
IGH Conzuling 4.0.0., Zagreb 104 100 00 100
Novi Crnomersc centar d.0.0., Zagrzb 104 31.988 00 51.933
DP AQUA d.o.o., Zagreb 100 451 00 451
ETZ Ekenomske tehnilki zvoed d.4., Osijzk 87.7 6.684 02 6.511
IGH Kosowa Sha Pridtina 748 39 748 39
Projekini biro Palmoticeva 43 d.o.o, Zagreh 113 3.634 113 3.634
MEM Termoprojelt d. oo, Zagreb 60 200 60 1.200
Impairment of mvestments n r2lated parties {(233.530) (199.451)
193.077 226.983

During 2015, bankruptcy proceedings were initiated against the subsidiary Geotehnika InZenjering

d.o.o.

Institut IGH, d.d., Zagreb

40



NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 18 — INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(1 Valuation techniques and significant inputs

The following table summarizes the valuation methods and techniques used in measuring the fair
value and significant inputs used in the valuation:

Valuation methods and techniques Significant unobservable inputs
The fair value of investments in related parties was estimated using methods o

applicable to each individual company. The following methods were used: o _Slgﬂlflcant unok_Jserv_abIe

e The valuation of properties was carried out by certified valuers (methods inputs are described in Note 16

described in Note 16 (i)) (M.

e The estimation of the recoverable amount of assets, liabilities and equity FL.':Ere cas\il\wltfrl]ovvtprc?gcojlons
of the Company as at 31 December with a gro rate ot 5%

Future cash flow projections

Investments in associates

2015 2014

Share of Share of

ownership ownership
amd v oting Carrving  and voting Carrving
(i thowsands of HRE) rights amoumnt right s amount
Elpida do.o. Zasreb 50 31.300 50 31.300
Irshinut za ifrastnitune projelte, Sofijp 50 g 50 g
Sportshd zrad TPN doo ustedau S 40 8 40 8
Ao cesta Bar Boljare do.o., Split 40 8 40 8
Centar Gradski podnm doo, Zazreb 375 21.533 31,3 21.533
IGH Lux erergia do.o. (ex L erermia daoa) , Zagreb 50 14.918 50 14918
Prvicrnogorskd autopit d oo, Podeonica 25 - 25 -
Impairmertt of #e shnents il associates (32.776) (15.323)
15.000 51.451

Valuation methods and techniques used together with significant unobservable inputs are identical to
those in investments in subsidiaries.

Investments in Centar Gradski Podrum d.o.0. were pledged by the Company as a security for
repayment of borrowings from commercial banks (Note 29).

Shares in investment funds

2015 2014

fin thowsands of HRE)
(Juaeshs private equity kapial 2825 2823
Nexus private equity 265 274
3.001 3.099
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 18 — INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

(CONTINUED)

The decrease in the fair value of shares in investment funds was recognised as part of finance costs
in the amount of HRK 9 thousand, while its increase was recognised as part of finance income in the

amount of HRK 1 thousand.

The fair valuation of shares in investment funds classified as available-for-sale financial assets was

carried out using quoted market prices (unadjusted) in an active market — Level 1.

Participating interests

2015 2014
(in thowsands of HRE)

Grpadija Biotopifiacija d 0.0, ulilsidacii Zagreb - 13
Viktor Letne d.d. Bijeka 47 47
GP Dubrownk d d u stedaju Dhbrovnk 2604 2.694
Medimurje beton d d, Cakovec 383 383
Projektoradnja d.d., SlavonskiBrod - -
Indugrosradnja Gripa d d 372 372
Mletroret Telekomuikacye dd. 1.062 1.062
Impatrment of parficipating interests (3.514) (3.5311)
744 1.063

NOTE 19 — INVENTORIES
2015 2014

fin thousands af HRE)

Work h progress 247 247
Imrventories of finished goods 2,340 2.7
Merchandize 568 568
Less: Impatrment of inventories (2.530) (2.530)
816 063

Inventories of finished goods relate to unsold business premises that are pledged as security for

repayment of borrowings (Note 29).
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 20 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014
Non-current receivables (tn thousands of HRK)
Feceivables for apartments sold and equipment with deferred pavment 1456 1.663
Fezceivables from pre-bankruptey settlements 11.033 0214
Less: Impairment of receivables from pre-banlouptey settlements (11.033) (2.198)
1.456 l.681
Currewt receivables
Domestic trade receivables 73811 08.023
Foreign trade receivables 13.879 24369
Less: Impairment of trade receivables (33331 (65932
Eecaivables from statz and governmental institutions 632 1.504
Eecaivablzs from employaes 685 763
Feceivables from related parties 4392 5.991
Feceivables from recharged interest 7444 7.444
Adwvances given 2393 1.622
Other receivables 3018 4.192
Less: Impairment of other raceivables (15033 (13.843)
37.890 64.135
Movements in provisions for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
2015 2014
{in thousands of HRK)
Atl January 65.932 51.682
Increase 3.166 19995
A mounts collected (3.203) (2.763)
Written off as uncollzctible (145647 (2.982)
At 3]l December 53.331 65.932
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that were not impaired was as follows:
" 2015° 2014
{in thousands af HRK)
Not dus 18.130 33258
0-60 davs 7.534 10.200
60-120 days 1.769 2585
120-180 days 3.396 4018
180-360 days 3.039 4573
Over 360 days 491 926
34,359 56.460

During 2015, receivables in the amount of HRK 10,646 thousand (2014: HRK 9 thousand) were
permanently written off.
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NOTE 21 - LOANS GIVEN

Long-term loans " 20157 2014
fin thousands of HRE)

Loans given to subsidiaries 60.784 383571
Loans given to associates 28.1240 28.1240
Loans given to wwelated parties 23.669 26.934
Impairment of loans given to relate d parties (76.601) (69_601)
35072 44.024

Short-term loans
Loans given to subsidiaries 28474 28101
Loans given to associates 2362 2320
Loans given to wrelated parties 2.829 34
Deposits and snarantees given 957 2039
Eeceivables for mtere sts 39521 32.804
Impairment of loans given (70.690) (60.182)
3453 6.211
390425 50.235

Loans to related parties were granted interest free or at a discount interest rate.

Loans to unrelated parties were granted at an interest rate of 4.5% per year, with a maturity of three

years and a pledge over the property registered as collateral for the loan.

NOTE 22 — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

d 2015

r

2014

{in thousamds of HRE)

Giro accounts 406 3.900
Cash on hand 3 3
Foreign currency accounts 22 496
Temm cash deposits - 1.363

431 5.762
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NOTE 23 - NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

2015 2014
Cost (in thousands of HRK)
Atl Jamary 116.616 161.353
Disposals (7.989) (44.739)
At 31 December 108.627 116.616

Non-current assets held for sale are intended to settle the secured debt to financial institutions that
have not waived their right to a separate settlement in the process of the pre-bankruptcy settlement.
During 2015, properties were sold in the amount of HRK 7,989 thousand, whereby liabilities were
settled with respect to borrowings from a commercial bank (2014: HRK 44,739 thousand).

Liabilities to secured creditors (Note 29) with liens on property classified as non-current assets held
for sale amount to HRK 105,687 thousand, i.e. HRK 108,627 thousand when adding the
accompanying interest of HRK 2,940 thousand.

(ii) Valuation techniques and significant inputs

The following table summarizes the valuation methods and techniques used in measuring the fair
value and significant inputs used in the valuation:
Valuation methods and techniques Significant unobservable inputs

The fair value was estimated using methods applicable to each individual

company. The following methods were used:

e The valuation of properties was carried out by certified valuers (methods
described in Note 16 (i))

Significant unobservable inputs
are described in Note 16 (i).

e Review of rights of secured creditors Amount of secured debt

NOTE 24 — ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES

2015 2014

fin thousands of HRK)
Prepaid expenses 1453 1304
Accrued ihcome (stage of completion) 4348 2230
VAT on advances received 192 196
5993 3.930

As at 31 December 2015, the Company has accrued income arising from construction contracts in the
amount of HRK 4,348 thousand (2014: HRK 2,230 thousand).
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NOTE 25 - SHARE CAPITAL

Number of Share of Number of Share of

shares ownership shares ownership
2015 2015 2014 2014
Gliadelkin Sergej 313.000 31,33% 315.000 31.33%
Mezhibovsky Veniamin 30.000 8.15% 50.000 8.153%
Zhl doo. (ex Zagreb-Montaia do.o.) 30,000 4.80%; 15.000 2.44%
Alkcionard.o.o. 20.086 3.27% 20,086 3.27%
[PRO-INZENJERING d.o.0. 4.512 0.74% 2.5312 041%
IGH-Esop d.o.o. 2.760 0.435% 2.540 0.46%
Dalekovod-Projekt d.o.o. 2.661 0.43% 2.661 0.43%
Mihaljevic Branko 2.524 041% 2.181 0.36%
Deikovié Zarko 2.508 0.41% 2.508 0.41%
Treasury shares 539 0,09 330 0,090
Other shareholders 183.119 20.84% 200382 32.65%
613.700 100% 613.700 100%

At the Management Board meeting held on 15 April 2014, the decision was made on increasing share
capital. This decision was supported by the Supervisory Board at its meeting held on the same day. The
share capital increase arose from the legally valid pre-bankruptcy settlement of 28 December 2013
whereby 30% of total supplier claims in the amount of HRK 23,506 thousand are settled through
Company shares. Suppliers have subscribed shares in the amount of HRK 17,815 thousand, and the
Company share capital was increased from HRK 105,668 thousand by the amount of HRK 17,815
thousand to the amount of HRK 123,486 thousand by issuing 44,539 new ordinary shares, ticker IGH-
R-C, with a nominal amount of HRK 400.00 per share.

After the share capital increase the Company's share capital amounts to HRK 123,483 thousand and is
divided among 264,170 ordinary shares, ticker IGH-R-A, and 44,539 ordinary shares, ticker IGH-R-C,
in the nominal amount of HRK 400.00 per share.

At the General Assembly held on 7 May 2014, the Company made a decision to reduce its share
capital from the amount of HRK 123,483 thousand by the amount of HRK 64,829 thousand to the
amount of HRK 58,755 thousand by reducing the nominal amount of ordinary shares, ticker IGH-R-A
and IGH-R-C, from the amount of HRK 400.00 by the amount of HRK 210.00 to the amount of HRK
190.00 per share.

At the same meeting, the decision was made on increasing share capital from the amount of HRK
58,655 thousand by the amount of HRK 57,950 thousand to the amount of HRK 116,605 thousand by
issuing 305,000 thousand ordinary shares, ticker IGH-R-C with a nominal amount of HRK 190.00 per
share.

After the share capital increase, the Company's share capital amounts to HRK 116,605 thousand and is
divided among 264,170 ordinary shares, ticker IGH-R-A, and 349,539 ordinary shares, ticker IGH-R-
C, in the nominal amount of HRK 190.00 per share.

On 21 January 2015, 349,539 shares, ticker: IGH-R-C ISIN HRIGHORC00004 with a nominal amount
of HRK 190.00 per share were converted to 349,539 shares, ticker: IGH-R-A ISIN HRIGHORC00006
with a nominal amount of HRK 190.00 per share.

Based on the decision of the Zagreb Stock Exchange Class:UP/1-451-01/15-01/12 Reg. no.: 536-15-2
dated 19 January 2015, 349,539 shares with a nominal amount of HRK 190.00 per share, ticker IGH-
R-A, ISIN: HRIGHORAQ00006 were listed on the Official Market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange. The
listing was performed on 21 January 2015.
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NOTE 25 - SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

After the listing, the Company's share capital comprises 613,709 shares, ticker IGH-R-A, ISIN:
HRIGHORAO0006 and amounts to HRK 116,605 thousand.

Each share holds voting and dividend rights.

Based on the final pre-bankruptcy settlement agreement of 28 December 2013, creditors transferred
into the PIK and junior debt have the right, upon the maturity period of six years, to convert their
remaining claims into share capital and thus become a part of the ownership structure of the Company.
The PIK debt represents 63.6% of debt towards banks in the pre-bankruptcy settlement and is to be
paid in one instalment after six years at a fixed interest rate of 4.5% per annum, which will also be paid
upon maturity. After three years, creditors have the right to exercise an option to convert debt into
equity up to a maximum of 20% of the share capital at the time of conversion. The details of the pre-
bankruptcy settlement agreement are described in Note 39.

Given the above, the Company has an obligation to calculate the probability and amount of conversion

of debt into equity. Due to the significant uncertainty of key variables in the calculation, the Company
did not calculate and recognise the equity component as at 31 December 2015.

NOTE 26 - RESERVES

2015 2014
fin thousands of HRE)
Reserves for treasury shares 1444 1444

Treasurv shares (1.448) (1.446)

Under Croatian regulations, the legal reserve must be built up to a minimum of 5% of the profit for the
year until total reserves together with the share premium reach 5% of the Company's share capital.
Both legal reserves and reserves for treasury shares are non-distributable.

Based on the decision of the General Assembly, legal reserves and part of the reserves in excess of the
value of treasury shares were used to cover losses generated in 2012.

The Company has 539 treasury shares. Treasury shares are recorded at cost and are released using the
weighted average price method.
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NOTE 27 - REVALUATION RESERVES

At 1 January

Fevaluation of equipment, net of tax

Transfer to accumulatedlosses

Transfer to accumulatedlosses due to sale of assets
Decrease in revaluation due to effect of one-off write -off
At 31 December

Revaluation reserves are not distributable to shareholders.

NOTE 28 - BORROWINGS

Long-term borrowings

Bank loans (secured by mortgage’) A/
Bank loans - PIK debt /it

B ank loans - junior debt/iv/

Bank loans - senior debt /il

Finance lease

Crther borrowings

Short-term borrowings

Izsued bonds /v

Bank loans (secured by mortgage’) A/

Bank loans - current portion of senior debt /it/
B orrowings from related parties

Finance lease /vi

Other borrowings

2015 2014

fin thousands of HRK)
126.007 131.637
14.743 -

(1.789) (1.812)
- (3.103)
(392) (715)

138.569 126.007

201 2014

¥ ]

fin thousands of HRE)

1.823 2.625
182404 182008
1.874 7.808
86.953 107.316
0E4 g

3 71
250.103 300,827
70.973 70973
30.096 §5.963
20.066 -

- 15

237 27
2.368 2.368
143.740 139.406

/il Bank borrowings in the amount of HRK 350,630 thousand (2014: HRK 366,710 thousand) and
liabilities arising from issued bonds in the amount of HRK 70,973 thousand are secured with the
Company's land and buildings, shares in the associate Centar gradski podrum d.0.0. and inventories

of the Company.
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NOTE 28 - BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In accordance with the pre-bankruptcy settlement agreement, creditors are classified into the
following categories:

/ii/ The ‘PIK debt’ represents claims that will be settled by selling pledged assets of the Debtor or its
related parties. Final maturity of the PIK claims is 6 years from the day the pre-bankruptcy
settlement became final and it incorporates a fixed interest rate of 4.5% per annum.

/iii/ The ‘Senior debt’ comprises a portion of creditor claims which will be settled by payment in
semi-annual instalments which fall due 30 June and 31 December in accordance with the provisions
of the settlement agreement and with an interest rate set at 4.5% per annum. The first instalment
becomes due on the first of the above dates 24 months after the settlement became legally valid.

/iv/ The ‘Junior debt’ relates to the part of creditor claims which will be settled in accordance with
the provisions of the settlement agreement. Final maturity of junior claims is 6 years from the day
the pre-bankruptcy settlement became legally valid. Interest amounting to 4.5% is calculated
annually and becomes due in one instalment upon final maturity of the junior debt.

Secured creditors have not waived their right for separate settlement in the pre-bankruptcy
settlement proceedings, and have the right to initiate separate enforcement procedures to enforce
property sales and settlement of their claims. If the sale of pledged assets does not generate sufficient
funds to settle secured claims, secured creditors are not entitled to settlement of outstanding claims
in full, but their claims are considered to be settled entirely through the sale of the pledged assets.

/vl Issued bonds

On 6 June 2012 the Company issued convertible bonds in the amount of EUR 10 million for a partial
rescheduling of liabilities arising from previously issued financial instruments and financing of the
working capital. Bonds are convertible into the Company's shares and are issued as annuity bonds
with 9% interest per annum with a due date on 6 June 2017. Payments of annuities are semi-annual.

On 6 June 2012 the Central Depository and Clearing Company included the bonds in depository,
clearing and settlement services. In order to ensure payment of all bond obligations, pledges have
been created for specific properties which were under the ownership of the bond issuer at time the
financial documents were finalised.

On 10 June 2013, the Settlement Council of the Financial Agency adopted the Decision on initiating
pre-bankruptcy settlement proceedings over INSTITUT IGH, d.d. Owners of convertible bonds as
secured creditors have not waived their right for separate settlement in the pre-bankruptcy settlement
proceedings, and have the right to initiate separate enforcement procedures to enforce property sales
and settlement of their claims. If the sale of pledged assets does not generate sufficient funds to settle
secured claims, bond holders are not entitled to settlement of outstanding claims in full, but their
claims are considered to be settled entirely through the sale of the pledged assets.

Pledged land and buildings amount to HRK 70,973 thousand and the value of bond payables was
reduced to the stated amount.

Ivil The finance lease liability is as follows:

Present value of
Minimum lease min. lease
pavments Finance cost payments
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

fin thousands of HRE)

Upto 1 vear 208 26 (s]0)] (&) 238 20
Between 1 and > vears 1.090 a (107) (1} 083 8
Total 1.388 35 (1a7) (77 1.221 28
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NOTE 28 - BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
The analytical review of borrowings is as follows:

-2 Over 3

{in thourand of HRE) Ciorency Interest rate 2013 Uptol year vears I-Siears  yeans
Comercial bark EUE 4.5% 196258 13395 8935 151500 103X
Comercial bark EUE 4.5% 78063 538 331 60305 s8sl
Comercial bark EUE 4.5% 12476 85 568 0.638 1419
Comercial bark EUE 4.5% 954 H7 208 8.053 48
Comercial bark HFK 6.5% 2608 875 875 us
Comercial bark EUR AIEIREBOR-625pp 32345 EREL]
Comercial bark EUE IMEIRBOR-660pp 16.873 16.875 - -
Bormowr ings from vnrelated legal persons HEK i a5 43 3 R 73
Bormorings from other fimaneial
s Hations HFK IMERBOR-T Npp 2368 2368
(Orther borroe ngs EUR £ 63 63
Finanes lease EUE 6.01-713% 11 27 M43 41
Bonds EUE "5 FLANRE] 0973

423843 143,740 14.568 132088 33480

Interest rates during the year were in the following range:
e 3M EURIBOR + 6.60% to 7.20%

e 6M EURIBOR+6.25%
e 4.00% to 9.00%
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NOTE 29 - PROVISIONS

Jubilee Unused Termination Waranty Legal
{in thousands of HRK) awards vacation days benefits provision disputes Total
At 1l January 2015:
Non-current portion - - 1.648 33 0782 11.483
Current portion - 4.762 261 - 22 3.045
0 4.762 1.000 53 0.804 16.5218
Increase in provisions - - 1.209 - 711 1.920
Utilised during the vear - (4397 (261 - (37) (737)
At 3] December 2015 - 4.323 2.857 53 10.478 7.711
At 3] December 2015:
Non-current portion - - 1.636 33 10.457 12.166
Current portion - 4.323 1.200 - 22 53.545
0 4.323 2.856 53 10.470 17.711

(1) Jubilee awards

After the expiry of the Collective Agreement according to which the Company had an obligation to pay
jubilee awards, jubilee awards are no longer paid and the provisions for jubilee awards were terminated.

Unused vacation days

In 2015, the provision for unused vacation days was accrued based on the expectations that unused
vacation days from 2015 will be used in 2016.

(i) Termination benefits

In 2015, the Company recognised a long-term provision for regular retirement benefits for all employees in
the non-taxable amount of HRK 8,000 per employee. By applying the discount rate of the CNB, the present
value of termination benefits of all employees was determined in the amount of HRK 1,656 thousand.

(ili)  Warranty provision

The Company reversed previously recognised warranty provisions as the warranty periods expired. At the
same time, warranty provisions were not recognised for the current period as the Company had no
indication of the potential corrective costs.

(iv) Legal disputes

Legal provisions relate to a number of legal disputes initiated against the Company. Based on the expert

opinion of a legal counsel, the Company’s Management Board believes that the outcome of these legal
disputes will not give rise to any significant loss beyond the amount provided for as at 31 December 2015.
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NOTE 30 - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
" 20157 2014

(in thousands of HRE)

Non-current liabilifies

Trade payablas 12.002 17.291
Liabiliizs towards related parties 372 830
Liabiliies for funds for public housing apartments 722 1.059
Other non-current Habilties - rescheduled tax debt 5201 10.234
21497 29.423
Current liabilities
Domestic trade payables 25577 24.077
Foreign trade payables 1.680 369
Other current liabilties - rescheduled tax debt 4884 6.081
Liabilites towards state and govemmental institutions 4683 3.309
Liabilifies towards employeses 3290 6.02
Liabiliies for shares in profit and rewards to managsment 1.733 1.733
Interast payvabla 4054 6.006
Municipal charges 2787 2. 787
F.elated party liabilities 651 1.029
Other liabilitie s 5287 5.027
56.628 58.439
78.125 87.862

Based on the Pre-bankruptcy settlement decision, non-current liabilities relating to the rescheduled tax debt
and liabilities arising from service contracts and royalties are discounted at a rate of 7%, which is the
discount rate of the CNB at the reporting date. Non-current liabilities for the rescheduled debt and other
non-current liabilities are carried at fair value using discounted cash flows. The liabilities are repaid over a
period of 5 years in equal semi-annual interest-free instalments.

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying value of current liabilities approximates their fair value, due to the
short-term nature of these liabilities. Non-current trade payables are measured at fair value using
discounted cash flows and relate to creditors who will, based on the pre-bankruptcy settlement, be repaid in
10 equal semi-annual instalments without interest. The rate used to discount the long-term liabilities is 7%.

Other liabilities relate to liabilities for unpaid royalties and services contracts in the amount of HRK 2,291
thousand, liabilities towards municipal and city budgets from the sale of social housing in the amount of
HRK 1,529 thousand and other current liabilities in the amount of HRK 1,467 thousand.

The ageing structure of trade payables is as follows:

2015 2014
(i thousands of HRK)

Not due 25786 32524
0-90 days 8264 7.080
01-180 days 2383 733
181-360 days 1429 2.150
over 360 days 2618 1.099
40.482 43.606

The Company's exposure to foreign exchange risk and liquidity risk is presented in Note 33.
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NOTE 31 - ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED

Advances from domestic debtors
Advances from foreign debtors
Deposits and guarantees received

NOTE 32 - ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

Accrued expenses

2015 2014

fin thousands of HRK)
1.477 1.023
1.209 1.144
353 231
3.0390 2,308
2015 2014

(tn thousands af HRK)
17.455 8.970
17.455 8.970

Liabilities for interests accrued on the PIK debt towards commercial banks participating in the pre-

settlement agreement were recorded in accrued expenses.
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NOTE 33 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Company is exposed to various financial risks related to foreign exchange, interest rate, credit and
liquidity risk. The Company monitors these risks and seeks to minimise their potential impact on the
Company’s financial exposure. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments to actively
hedge its financial risk exposure.

Market risk

Market risk relates to financial instruments. IFRS defines market risk as the risk of fluctuation of fair
value or future cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in market prices. Market risk comprises
three types of risk: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risks.

The Company operates on the Croatian and international markets. The Management Board determines the
cost of its services based on the market price of the relevant market.

a) Price risk

The Company is engaged in the professional and scientific research in the field of construction, the area
where the financial crisis has had a significant impact causing relative market inactivity.

Currently, the industry in which the Company operates is highly illiquid, and despite the significant
decrease in prices, a significant drop in the volume of business also occurred. Price reductions and market
illiquidity have a negative effect on the recoverability of the Company's assets and the timing of projects
realisation.

b) Foreign exchange risk

The Company’s official currency is the Croatian kuna (HRK). However, the Company has invested in
financial instruments and entered into transactions denominated in currencies that do not represent its
functional currency. Accordingly, the Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk of its currency in
relation to other currencies in a way that may adversely affect the result and value of the Company.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Croatian kuna by applying the exchange
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. The resulting exchange differences are credited or charged to the
income statement. Changes in exchange rates may affect the profits mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains or losses arising on translation of receivables in foreign currency (EUR) and borrowings and
liabilities contracted with a foreign currency clause (EUR). Due to part of its income being earned in
foreign markets and liabilities denominated in other currencies, the Company is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through EUR and therefore the expected changes are not significant.

The total exposure of the Company to changes in foreign exchange rates at the reporting date was as
follows:

Liabilities Assets
2015 2014 2015 2014
fin thousands of HRE) fin thousands of HRK)
European Union (EUR) 390.943 404965 63.170 74.288
Bosnia and Herzegovina (B AM) 43 23 872 1.077
USA (USD) 2.712 2443 1.622 1.445
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NOTE 33 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Company is mainly exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rate of the Croatian kuna to the euro.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the period end for a percentage change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes monetary assets and monetary liabilities in foreign currencies. A negative number
indicates a decrease in profit where the Croatian kuna changes against the relevant currency by the
percentage specified above. In case of a reverse proportional change of the Croatian kuna against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

The exposure to the 1% fluctuation in the exchange rates for the currencies presented above is mainly
attributable to borrowings, trade payables and related party receivables denominated in euro (EUR).

ETUR currency effect TUSD currency effect
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in thousands of HRK) (tn thousands of HRK)
Wet result decrease (3.278) (3.307) (11) (10)

B AM currency effect
2015 2014

(u tisucama kuna)

Net result increase ] 11

The middle exchange rates against the Croatian kuna significant for the Company are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2015 2014
EUR 7.63505 7.66147
BAM 390374 3.91725
UsD 6.99180 6.30211

c) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates relative to the interest rates which apply to the financial instrument.

Due to the fact that the Company uses loans with variable interest rates, the Company is exposed to interest
rate risk. The Company does not use instruments to actively hedge interest rate risk exposure.
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NOTE 33 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Company in whole or in part, at the time of maturity. Failure to fulfil obligations
would endanger the Company's liquidity and reduce the value of its assets. As at 31 December 2015, the
Company’s financial assets that may potentially expose the Company to credit risk consist primarily of
loans receivable, trade and other receivables.

The value of financial assets at the reporting date represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. The
Company regularly monitors the risk that a counterparty will default on its obligations.

Trade and other receivables and loans receivable have been adjusted for the allowance for bad and doubtful
debts.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company could face difficulties in settling its liabilities. Liquidity risk
arises in the general funding activities of the Company and the management of assets. It includes the risk
of being unable to fund assets under appropriate maturities and prices and the risk of being unable to sell
its assets at a reasonable price and in an appropriate time frame. Financial instruments include investments
that may be illiquid and that the Company is not able to turn into cash to meet its liquidity requirements.
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NOTE 33 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Table analysis of liquidity risk

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities at their due
date. The tables include both principal and interest cash flows.

2015 in thouwsands of HRE
Non-derivative financial Liabilities
Loans r=ceived and finance leazes
Tradz and other payabls

2014 in thouwsands of HRE
Nown-derivative financial liabilities
Lozn: rceived and finance leazes
Trade and other pavebles

TUptod From 2
Contractedcash months or From&tol2 Froml to to&  Owers
Net book value flows less months 2 years YEArS Years
301281 371281 18.257 583 18155 2120320 34833
B1.164 B5.308 55.443 §.404 12804 12747 -
AB1.445 456680 TL700 15800 A0 850 303076 34 0EE
TUptod From 2
Contractedcash months or From&tol2 Froml to to&  Owers
Net book value flows less months 2 years YEArS Years
317317 406,230 4.255 i) 20258 51745 300013
00260 01.324 52.064 5.600 14114 19537 -
417.877 407 554 56.319 35568 34371 7118 A00.013

Non-interest bearing liabilities payable up to one month mainly consist of trade payables and other current

liabilities.

Interest bearing liabilities include short-term and long-term loans and finance lease.
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NOTE 33 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash inflows of financial assets at their due date.

The tables include both principal and interest cash flows.

(irthousands gf HRE) Net book value
2015
Non-deriragdve financial assets
Loans zven G425
Tmdz and other meaivablas 30348
T8TT1
1014
Non-derivagve financial assets
Loansz gmren 30235
Tradz and other meeivablas 63.816
116051

Fair value of financial instruments

Contracted cash

Tptob From2

months or From® o ll Froml i oS

flows less months 2 vears vears
42531 - 6.726 33675 2230
30548 27.583 10.308 47 Gad
BL.9T7 17583 17.034 34146 32114
353132 - 11.320 43 832
63816 47.158 16.938 470 1210
120.968 47198 28158 470 45042

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined as follows:

e The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and which are
traded on active liquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices,

e The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models, based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

Financial instruments held to maturity in the ordinary course of business are recorded at the lower of cost
and net amount less the portion repaid. The fair value represents the amount for which a financial
instrument could be traded between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction, except in
the event of a forced sale or for liquidation purposes. The fair value of a financial instrument is its quoted
securities market price, or the amount obtained using the discounted cash flow method.

As at 31 December 2015, the reported amounts of cash, short-term deposits, receivables, current liabilities,
accrued expenses, short-term borrowings and other financial instruments approximate their fair values due

to the short-term nature of those assets and liabilities.

The Management Board believes that the carrying value of long-term deposits, receivables and borrowings
as at 31 December 2015 approximates their fair value due to the application of variable interest rates on

liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 33 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Capital risk management
Net debt-to-equity ratio (gearing ratio)

The net-debt-to-equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:

2015 2014

{in thousands of HRE)
Debt (long-t=rm and short-term loans) 301281 327317
(431) (5.762)

Cash and cash equivalents
Net debt

Equity

Debt Equity ratio

300.850 321.555

26.446 118974
1138% 270%

Debt is defined as a financial liability for long-term and short-term borrowings. Equity includes all capital
and reserves of the Company. In addition to monitoring the ratio of net debt to equity, the Company also
monitors the ratio of operating profit before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and debt.

The Company monitors its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 34 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company considers that its direct related party relationship is with its key shareholders and entities
under their control or influence (subsidiaries and associates), key management (see below), close family
members of key management and legal entities that are controlled or significantly influenced by key
management personnel and their close family members, in accordance with the provisions set out in
International Accounting Standard 24 - Related Party Disclosures.

Revenue from services to subsidiaries

2015 2014
fin thousands of HRE)

Geotehnika InfFenjering d.o.o., Zagreb 50 17
IGH Mostar d.o.o., Mostar - 148
ETZ d.d. Osijek - 25
Radeljevic d.o.o, Zagreb - 3
IGH Projektiranje d.o.0., Zagreb 2.3 6.4
Projektni biro Palmoticeva 45 d.o.o., Zagreb H2 1.058

2.703 7.707
Revenue from services to associates

2015 2014

{tn thowusands of HRE)

]

Cemntar Gradski podnum do.o. 320 730

20 750

h

Services received from subsidiaries

2015 2014
{in thousands af HREK)

Geotehnika InFanjering d.o.o., Zagreb a0 210
IGH Mostar d.o.o., Mostar 46 71
ETZ d.d. Osijek - 20
IGH Projektiranje d.oo, Zagreb 63 168
Projektni bito Palmoticeva 43 d.oo., Zagrab 767 386
MEBM Termoprojelt d.o.o., Zagreb 440 303
IGH Kosova, Priztina - ]

1.398 1.959
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 34 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Interest income on loans given to subsidiaries

2015 2014

fin thousands of HRK)

ETZ dd. Osijek 9 11
0 11

Interest income on loans given to associates

2015 2014

(in thousands af HRK)

Elpida d.oo.  Zagreb 4

e
[ R

Receivables for services provided to subsidiaries

2015 2014
(i1 thousands of HRE)

Geotehnika InFermjering d oo, Zagreb 158 192
IGH Mostar d.o.o., Mostar - 131
Inecro d.o.o, Zagreb 23 22
Fadeljevic d.o.o, Zagreb 1.327 1.074
Forun Cenatar d o.o., Zagreb 1 1
IGH Projeltiranje d o.o., Zagreb 930 1.622
Projeltni biro Palmoticeva 43 do.o., Zagreb 183 1.011
Wovi Crnomerec centar d.o.o., Zagreb - -
Marterra do.o. Zagreb 020 004
ETZ Ekonomsko tehmifld zaved d.d., Osijek 4 13
DP Aquad.o.o., Zagreb 75 43
IGH Energja d.o.o. . Zagreb 26 124
Less: Impairment of receivables (2.47) (2.461)

1.416 2.790

During the year, HRK 2 thousand of impairment of receivables from subsidiaries was recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 34 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Receivables for services provided to associates

2015 2014

{in thousands of HRK)
Sportski grad TPN d.o.o., Spli 475 475
Centar Gradski podnim d.o.o. 12 265
Elpida d.o.o. 7 -
Less Impairment of receivables (482) (475)
12 165

During the year, HRK 7 thousand of impairment of receivables from associates was recognised in profit or

loss.

Liabilities to related parties based on services received

2015 2014
in thousands of HRK)

Centar Gradski podrum d.o.o. 626 430
Geotehnika InfFenjering d 0.0, Zagreb 20 219
IGH Mostar d.o.o., Mostar 1 43
ETZ dd. Osiek 42 360
1GH Projektitanje d.o.o., Zagreb 153 345
Projekmi biro Palmaticeva 45 d.o.o., Zagreb 7 118
Tehnitke konstrukciie d o.o., Zagreb 272 272
MBM Temmoprojekt d.oo., Zagreb 205 185
Less: Fatr valie due to pre-bankruptey settlement (104) (175)

1222 1.693
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 34 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Loans given to subsidiaries

Prinicipal Interest  Prinicipal Interest
2015 2014

(Bt thousands of HRE) (i1 thousands of HRE)
Geotelrda [nferjering do.o., Zagreb m 1.543 0
IGH Mostar d o.0., Mostar 5.501 210 3320 276
Incro dooo, Zagreb 64.783 14,599 64.738 14,890
Eadeljenit do.o, Zazreb 5.545 - 3314 138
Forum Cenatar do.o., Zagreb 23 4 17 4
Novi Cmomerec centar do.o., Zagreb 24 - 0 -
Marterra do.o. Zagreb 8.303 693 3.305 693
IGH Eosova Sha, Pristina 3.598 T44 3841 744
IGHEnergja do.o., Zagreb 34 14 47 10
Projekt Solta do.o., Zagreb 58 2 13 2
Slavordja centar, pos. zotia V. Kopanica 10 - ] -
ETZ, Ekonomsko telwméld zavod dd , Osgek 273 20 273 11
Less: Impatrment of receivables { 76.681) {16.564) {64.461) (16.322)
12576 20 23.211 11

During the year, HRK 9,460 thousand of impairment of receivables for loans given and accrued interest
was recognised in profit or loss.

Loans given to associates

Prinicipal Interest  Primicipal Interest
2015 2014
i thousands of HRE) T thousands of HRE)
Sportskd grad TPW d oo, Split 30.400 16.060 30.400 16.060
Elpida do.o, Zagreb 81 b 40 2
L ess: Impairm ettt of loans sren (30.481) {16.066) (304400 (16.062)

Information on co-debtorships and guarantees issued to related parties are stated in Note 35.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 34 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Management Board and Supervisory Board compensation:

2015 2014

(m thousands of HRK)
Gross salanes and other compensations fo Management Board members 3.309 2.687
Compensations to Supervisory Board members 1.132 1.346
4.441 4.033

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had a liability towards members of the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board in the amount of HRK 868 thousand (2014: HRK 865 thousand).

NOTE 35 - CONTINGENCIES

2015 2014

(1 thousands of HRE)
Legal disputes 76.863 76.910
Guarantees given and warranties - extemal 38.870 40.732
Co-debtorship in related party loans 30.415 30521
Issued guarantees for related parties 1.230 059
147.378 149,122

Other court disputes and guarantees given are not disclosed as contingent liabilities in the statement of
financial position as at 31 December due to the Management Board's estimates as at 31 December 2015 that it
is not probable that liabilities will arise for the Company.

The overview of co-debtorship in related party loans is as follows:

2015 2014

(b1 thowusands of HRK)
Geotehnilca InFenjering d.o.o. Zagreb 14365 14.616
Inero d.o.o. Zagreb 15850 15.903
30.415 30.521

NOTE 36 - COMMITMENTS

Future payments under operating leases for vehicles and other commitments are as follows:

2015 2014

(1 thousands of HRE)
Tpto 1l year 6.817 6603
1 - 5vyears 14.124 19.971
20.941 26.574
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 37 - GOING CONCERN

In the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company incurred an unconsolidated net loss of HRK 102,606
thousand (2014: loss of HRK 6,265 thousand) and at year-end, the Company's unconsolidated current
liabilities exceeded its unconsolidated current assets by HRK 69,197 thousand (2014: HRK 16,641 thousand).

The Company’s Management Board considers that the Company has met the requirements to continue as a
going concern. In previous periods, the Company has operated in difficult liquidity conditions and at risk
of a permanent inability to refinance short-term financial liabilities towards banks. Precisely for this
reason, the Company, by means of a pre-bankruptcy settlement, reached an agreement with its creditors
and restructured its debt. The going concern basis is certainly affected by the fact that, as part of the pre-
bankruptcy settlement, the Company limited its exposure arising from co-debtorship towards certain
related companies which, if activated, would prevent the Company's operational business activities.
Regardless of the financial restructuring, the Company performed a capital increase by issuing new shares
and is in the process of selling certain assets in order to ensure the necessary liquidity.

NOTE 38 — EFFECTS OF THE PRE-BANKRUPTCY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

On 17 May 2013 the Company submitted a Proposal to initiate pre-bankruptcy settlement proceedings. On 5
December 2013 the Commercial Court in Zagreb accepted the Proposal and approved the settlement. In April
2014, the Court ruled that the pre-bankruptcy settlement became legally valid as of 28 December 2013.

. Settlement with creditors

An agreement was reached according to which 30% of claims is converted into the Company's share capital.
20% of claims will be repaid in cash after the share capital increase or the sale of the Company’s assets. The
remaining 50% of claims will be repaid in 10 equal semi-annual instalments over the period of 5 years. During
2015, the Company settled trade payables totalling HRK 7,075 thousand as prescribed in the provisions of the
pre-bankruptcy settlement. During 2015, the Company also settled liabilities towards related parties, natural
persons for service contracts and royalties and non-financial institutions in the total amount of HRK 2,392
thousand.

1. Settlement with banks
PIK debt

Of the total debt, 63.6% was converted into the PIK debt. The PIK debt is to be repaid in one instalment 6
years after the pre-bankruptcy settlement became legally valid. Up to the maturity date, a fixed interest rate of
4.5% per annum is included in the calculation, which is also payable in one instalment 6 years after the pre-
bankruptcy settlement became legally valid. The PIK debt will be settled through the sale of assets which are
pledged as collateral. All gains on sale of pledged assets in excess of the claims are attributable to the
Company.

Three years after the settlement will have become legally valid, the Company is obliged to proportionally
convert the PIK debt to the senior debt until the senior debt reaches the net indebtedness limit which is equal to
3.5 times of the prior year EBITDA.

Three years after the settlement will have become legally valid and through the process of converting the PIK
debt to the senior debt, the creditors have the right to convert their claims into equity at a price of HRK 400 per
share. If the General Assembly does not invite a creditor to subscribe for the shares, then the outstanding PIK
debt is due upon the creditors’ call.

If the sale of pledged assets is realised, the PIK debt (including interest) is settled first and the remainder of
receipts is used to settle parts of the senior debt which had liens on that particular asset. If the sales result in a
surplus of cash over the creditors' claims, then the surplus belongs to the debtor i.e. the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 38 - EFFECTS OF THE PRE-BANKRUPTCY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Senior debt

The first instalment becomes due 24 months from the date the pre-bankruptcy settlement will have become
legally valid. The payments fall due 30 June and 31 December of each year, and the first instalment becomes
due on the first of the above dates 24 months after the settlement became legally valid. Instalments are paid 2
times a year with a fixed interest rate of 4.5% per annum. Interest are accrued and paid over the entire
repayment period. Liabilities for interests accrued on the senior debt for 2015 have been settled in the amount
of HRK 4,809 thousand.

The Company is currently negotiating with banks, whereby it proposed to extend the grace period by another
18 months, i.e. to make the grace period amount to 42 months after the settlement became legally valid,
consequently reducing the repayment period to 6.5 years after the first instalment becomes due.

Junior debt

The junior debt has the same repayment schedule as the PIK debt the only difference being that junior debt
holders have no liens on the Company’s assets. Final maturity of junior debt is also 6 years from the date the
pre-bankruptcy settlement will have become legally valid with a fixed interest rate of 4.5% per annum which
becomes due in one instalment after 6 years.

Set out below is a short overview of the effects of the pre-bankruptcy settlement agreement on the statement of
financial position:

201 2014

L ]

fin thousands of HRK)

Transformation of liablitv to capital (Note 26) - 17.816
PIK daht (Note 29) 182404 182 908
Semor debt (Note 29) 107.019 107316
Tunior deht (Note 29) 7874 7808

207.297 315.938

Set out below is a short overview of the effects of the pre-bankruptcy settlement agreement on the statement of
comprehensive income:

2015 2014

(n thowsands of HRE)
Write-off of liabilities toward creditors without subscribed shares - 5.650
Discounting non-current Habilities (2.842) (4.436)
(2.842) 1.254

The principal of the debt towards creditors who have not waived their right to separate settlement in the
process of the pre-bankruptcy settlement agreement (secured creditors) is classified as short-term and is
presented in Note 29 in the amount of HRK 122,562 thousand.

Pledged assets are intended to cover the secured debt and are classified as non-current assets held for sale as
presented in Note 23 in the amount of HRK 108,627 thousand.

Since the legally valid pre-bankruptcy settlement up to 31 December 2015, the Company settled an amount
of HRK 102,189 thousand, incurred before initiating the pre-bankruptcy settlement, by payments in cash,
issuing registered shares, converting a part of receivables of a part of creditors into equity, payment of
priority claims and other claims of employees with accompanying taxes and contributions, and write-off in
accordance with the provisions of the pre-bankruptcy settlement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

NOTE 39 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated as follows:

2015 2014

fin thousands of HRK)

Profit/(loss) for the vear (in thousands of HRED) (106.878) 5.265
Weighted average number of shares 509800 494.049
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (in HREK) (175.27) 12,68

As stated in Notes 26 and 39, as part of the pre-bankruptcy settlement a portion of the Company's debt can be
converted into equity 3 years after the settlement will have become legally valid, up to 20% of the share capital
at the time of conversion. Due to the uncertainty of significant variables in the calculation, the Company did
not calculate diluted earnings per share in the event of conversion of the stated portion of debt into equity.
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